1986

G. Carmen Herrera v. Sperry Corporation,
Travelers Insurance Company, Second Injury Fund,
and Industrial Commission of Utah: Brief of
Appellant G. Carmen Herrera

Utah Supreme Court

ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

IS A SPRAINED BACK, SUFFERED ON THE JOB WHILE A
PERSON PERFORMS HIS OR HER NORMAL TASK OF LIFTING,
AN ACCIDENT FOR THE PURPOSES OF WORKMEN'S COMPEN-
SATION IF THERE IS A MEDICALLY DEMONSTRATED CAUSAL
CAUSAL CONNECTION BETWEEN THE INJURY AND THE WORK?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Plaintiff, Gloria Carmen Herrera is a 25 year old female who, at the time of her injury, worked at Sperry Univac Corporation. (R. 3)

2. She had worked there approximately six (6) months prior to the date of her injury. (R. 4)

3. Her duties included picking up computer units from the ground and placing them on a conveyor belt. (R. 4)

4. These units weighed between 20 and 100 pounds. (R. 5)

5. This task involved a lifting and then turning motion while holding the computer unit. (R. 5)

6. On May 3, 1985, the Plaintiff was lifting one of these units, and as she turned, she felt a pop in her back. (R. 5)

7. The Plaintiff reported the injury to her supervisor that day and then continued working. (R. 6)

8. She was thereafter examined by several doctors who diagnosed her as having suffered a sprained back. (R. 7)

9. Medical examinations revealed a causal connection between the claimant's work task and her back injury (Report of Dr. Gene R. Smith, R. 47). (For ease of reference, a copy of this report along with the Administrative Law Judge's Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law, and the Industrial Commission's Denial of Motion for Review are included as the addendum to this brief).

10. As a result of this condition, the Plaintiff has constant backaches and headaches and cannot sit or walk for long periods of time. (R. 7)

11. The Administrative Law Judge ruled, and the Industrial Commission affirmed that because the claimant's injury occurred in the course of her normal work duties, her injury was not the result of a compensable "accident" in that [t]here is nothing to take her activity on that day out of the realm of what could be considered usual and normal activities" (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order of the Administrative Law Judge, R. 88-90; Denial of Motion for Review, R. 103).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Industrial Commission was in error in ruling that the Plaintiff suffered no "accident" when she injured her back during the normal course of her job. The determination of whether an "accident" has occurred should not depend on whether the injury was sustained during usual exertion or activities. Rather, the question should depend on whether there is an unexpected injury and whether there is a medically demonstrable causal relationship between the person's work duties and the unexpected injury.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. UNEXPECTED INJURIES INCURRED WHILE
PERFORMING ONE'S USUAL DUTIES SHOULD
BE COMPENSABLE UNDER UTAH'S WORKMAN'S
COMPENSATION LAWS WHEN A CAUSAL RELATIONSHIP
BETWEEN THE WORK AND THE
INJURY EXISTS.

The Administrative Law Judge in this case ruled that a back injury occurring in the course of one's employment duties is not an "accident" compensable under Utah's Workman's Compensation

laws if the activity is "usual and normal." She also did not refer the case to a medical panel because she found there was no "accident". As the following discussion will demonstrate, this is an improper interpretation of Utah law.

Utah Code section 35-1-45 states:

Every employee...who is injured by accident arising out of or in the course of his employment...shall be paid compensation. U.C.A. section 35-1-45 (Supp. 1984).

It has been held that the meaning of the term "accident" is a question of law. Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Monfredi, 631 p.2d 888, 890 (Utah 1981). The term "...should be given broad meaning. It connotes an unanticipated, unintended occurrence different from what would normally be expected to occur in the usual course of events". Carling v. Industrial Commission, 16 Utah 2d 260, 399 P.2d 202, 203 (1965). Injury caused by one's ordinary work task may be considered an accident even if no unusual exertion or activity is shown. A. Larson, 1 The Law of Workmen's Compensation, section 38.30, (1965). "The fact that overexertion is more apt to cause internal failure than is

ordinary exertion is no reason [to] ...require proof of overexertion to sustain an award." Purity Biscuit Co. v. Industrial Commission, 201 P.2d 961, 969 (Utah 1949).

However, in deciding whether an injury is an "accident", the Industrial Commission has adopted a test which unduly narrows the scope of the inquiry and which therefore excludes from coverage injuries that, being unanticipated and unintended, are "accidents". In reality, there are two categories of injuries which qualify as "accidents". The first category is comprised of unexpected activities which result in injury. An example of this category would be where an employee is run over by a run-away dump truck. When an injury falls into this category, the question of whether an accident has occurred is generally not an issue.

In the second category, the injury takes the form of an unexpected result from an expected or normal activity. An example of this would be where an employee suffers a sprained back while lifting. Case authority can be found pointing both ways on the question of whether injury in the second category qualifies as an accident. One line of Utah cases holds that such injuries qualify as accidents. See Schmidt v. Industrial Commission, 617 P.2d 693, 695 (Utah 1980). See also, Purity

Biscuit Co. v. Industrial Commission, 115 Utah 1, 201 P.2d 961, 969 (1949). However, another line of cases holds that such injuries are not compensable. Sabo's Electronic Service v. Sabo, 642 P.2d 722, 724 (Utah 1982); Farmer's Grain Co-op v. Mason, 606 P.2d 237, 239 (Utah 1980); and Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints v. Industrial Commission and Thurman, 590 P.2d 328, 329-30 (Utah 1979). The Industrial Commission has misinterpreted the latter line of cases to mean that injuries occurring during the course of one's duties are not accidents if the activities are usual and normal unless there is also present unusual exertion or abnormal activities. In reality in all of the above cases where no compensation was awarded, no causation was shown. Whether the activity was unusual or required extra exertion is an indicator of causation sometimes, especially in back cases, but it is not always determinative of causation.

As the remainder of this discussion will demonstrate, the Industrial Commission is in error in relying on its interpretation of the Sabo line of cases for the following reasons:

1. First, these cases were decided on the issue of causation as was the case they look to as their precedent; Redman

Warehousing Corporation v. Industrial Commission, 22 Utah 2d 398, 454 P.2d 283 (1969).

2. Second, the Industrial Commission's interpretation of the law is not in line with the majority of jurisdictions; and,

3. Third, and most importantly, a narrow determination of "accident" is contrary to the objective of Utah Workmen's Compensation Law.

A. The Precedent of Redman

The cases holding that injuries incurred during the performance of one's normal duties trace the rule of law they apply to Redman Warehousing Corp. v. Industrial Commission, 22 Utah 2d 398, 454 P.2d 283 (1969). Redman was a case involving a claim for back injury that first evidenced itself while the claimant was driving a moving van. Although driving the van was part of the claimant's usual duties, his duties also included loading and unloading the van. The Industrial Commission decided that the claimant's injuries were the result of driving the van and that this unlooked for result of his normal activities

qualified as an accident. However, this court reversed that decision on a finding of a lack of causal connection between the claimant's work activities and the injury. Id. at 285.

The Redman court correctly decided that a claimant must be able to establish a causal connection between the injury and work. For, as the court stated:

To conclude otherwise would insure every truck driver, every railroad engineer, every airplane pilot, and a lot of others, against a physiological malfunction or physical collapse of any of hundreds of human organs, completely unproven as to cause, but compensable only by virtue of the happenstance that the malfunction, collapse or injury occurred while the employee was on the job, and not home or elsewhere. (emphasis added) Id. at 285.

As a consequence, Redman stands for the proposition that before a claimant may collect workmen's compensation for an injury

incurred on the job, he or she must be able to demonstrate a causal connection between his or her normal work duties and the injury sustained.

However, the causation requirement of Redman as found in Sabo, Mason, and Thurman has been interpreted by the Industrial Commission into an over-simplistic rule which holds that only injuries occurring during nonordinary or unusual activity or exertion are compensable. Redman clearly does not stand for this rule. Redman simply turns on the court's inability to believe the Industrial Commission's finding that the act of driving a vehicle was the cause of the claimant's injury. Id. at 285. Hence, there is no precedent in Redman for the requirement that all injuries occurring during one's normal job are not compensable and that unusual exertion need be shown.

B. The Industrial Commission's decision disagrees with the majority position.

In addition, the rule applied by the Industrial Commission disagrees with the majority rule. The majority of jurisdictions hold that when usual exertion leads to an internal breakdown of some sort, the injury is accidental. A. Larson, 1

The Law of Workmen's Compensation, Section 38.30 (1965). As a consequence, to uphold the Industrial Commission's decision would place Utah out of step with the majority of jurisdictions.

C. The Industrial Commission's rule is contrary to the objective of Workmen's Compensation Law.

Finally, the rule applied by the Industrial Commission fails to compensate injuries the rule was intended to identify as compensable. The word "accident" should be given a broad meaning to effectuate the purpose of the Workmen's Compensation Act which is to give workers injured on the job quick and easy access to benefits. Cook v. Peter Kiewit Sons Company, 15 Utah 2d 20, 386 P.2d 616, 617 (1963); See also, Monfredi, pp. 890 and 892. The rule applied by the Industrial Commission purports to weed out claims where the injury is the result of coincidence and thereby only allow claims in which there exists a causal connection between the work task and the injury. However, in reality, because of its narrow and over-simplistic approach, the test achieves just the opposite result. It excludes claims, as in this case, when there is a clear and medically demonstrable relationship between the work task and the injury, while it invites claims for injuries that are the result of coincidence and happenstance.

The anomolous results engendered by this rule are illustrated by the following example. Suppose Party A and Party B both suffer back injuries while lifting a crate at work. Party A's normal task involves lifting and a medical examination reveals a degenerative condition in A's back, caused by the heavy labor, and that this condition culminated in the present back injury. On the other hand, Party B's usual duties do not involve lifting. However, a medical examination of B reveals a congenital condition in his back which has caused the back to degenerate to such a point as to be overly susceptible to injury and that the lifting conincidentally triggered this condition, resulting in the injury.

In the case of Party A, there is no recovery under the Industrial Commission's rule because there was no unusual or nonordinary activity even though lifting on the job is the medically demonstrable cause of A's injury. On the other hand, Party B can recover even though the lifting was not really the cause but rather was merely a condition of the injury -- the fact that the injury occurred on the job being merely fortuitous.

The test applied by the Industrial Commission in this case lends itself to such results. It is a mechanical approach

which is circumstantial rather than causal oriented. Clearly, such a rule is over simplistic and not properly tailored to weed out claims where causation does not exist.

The better test for "accident" would be whether the injury was unforeseen. This broad test would not be dispositive in most cases. It should be followed by a test of causation. Taking the evidence as a whole, does there exist a medically demonstrable connection between work and the injury. In other words, the work task must be shown to be the efficient cause and not merely a condition to the injury. As a consequence, in every claim of this nature, the case should be referred to a medical panel for a determination on the issue of causation. See, Schmidt v. Industrial Commission, 617 P.2d 693, 696 (Utah 1980) (in the case of accidental injury, submission of the medical aspects of the case, including the issue of causation, to the medical panel is mandatory). In the present case, because the Administrative Law Judge did not find in favor of the existence of an accident she did not submit the case to a medical panel.

Note that such a test would not change the results in any of the previously cited decisions. For example, as stated before, Redman can be explained on the basis of the court's

inability to believe that there was a causal connection between the claimant's back injury and his job of driving a moving van, in light of the fact that he regularly performed strenuous lifting without suffering injury. Id. at 285.

Similarly, in Sabo, the claimant, although required to lift crates as part of his job, probably did not perform such tasks as his primary activity. Id. at 723 (claimant owned and operated a business known as Sabo's Electronic Service). Hence, as to him, lifting, although a condition to his injury, was, in all probability, not the primary cause. The same is true of Thurman. According to the medical report contained in the opinion in that case, the claimant suffered from a degenerative condition which does not appear to be work related. Id. at 330. Hence, his work task was also a condition rather than a cause of his injury.

On the other hand, in Purity Biscuit this Court allowed compensation for back injury incurred during the normal course of the claimant's duties which included, among other things, driving a truck. Id. at 962. This decision was based on the Industrial Commission's finding that the claimant's work task, which involved a great deal of "stooping and bending in lifting heavy

packages" caused his spine to deteriorate to such an extent as to result in his injury. Id.

Similarly, in the present case, the Plaintiff's doctor, Dr. Smith, reports that the injury was brought on by the Plaintiff's job of lifting. This evidence should not be disregarded and made of no import by an arbitrary rule of law that holds injuries occurring during "usual and normal" activities at work are per se not compensable.

CONCLUSION

The Plaintiff therefore respectfully requests that this court reverse the Industrial Commission's decision and remand this case for further hearing on damages.