1986

G. Carmen Herrera v. Sperry Corporation,  
Travelers Insurance Company, Second Injury Fund,  
and Industrial Commission of Utah: Brief of  
Respondents Sperry Corporation and Travelers  
Insurance Company

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is sufficient evidence in the record to support the Industrial Commission's finding that Plaintiff did not suffer a compensable industrial accident. Moreover, there is a wealth of authority, including one case with strikingly similar facts, which support the Commission's finding of no accident in this case.



## ARGUMENT

### I. THE COMMISSION'S DECISION MUST BE "WHOLLY WITHOUT CAUSE" TO PERMIT REVERSAL

The standard of review exercised by this Court in cases appealing decisions of the Industrial Commission is well established. In Kaiser Steel Corporation v. Monfredi, 631 P.2d 888, 890 (Utah 1981) ("Monfredi"), this Court stated:

[i]t is apparent that this Court's function in reviewing Commission findings of fact is a strictly limited one in which the question is not whether the Court agrees with the Commission's findings or whether they are supported by the preponderance of evidence. Instead, the reviewing court's inquiry is whether the Commission's findings are "arbitrary or capricious," or "wholly without cause" or contrary to the "one [inevitable] conclusion from the evidence" or without "any substantial evidence" to support them. Only then should the Commission's findings be displaced.

631 P.2d at 890. This standard was reaffirmed in Sabo's Electronic Service v. Sabo, 642 P.2d 722, 725 (Utah 1982). Accord, Billings Computer Corporation v. Tarango, 674 P.2d 104, 106 (Utah 1983); Moyes, ex rel. Moyes v. State, 699 P.2d 748, 750 (Utah 1985) (applying arbitrary and capricious standard); and Emery Mining Corporation v. DeFriez, 694 P.2d 606, 608 (Utah 1984).

UTAH CODE ANN. § 35-1-84 (1953) permits the Supreme Court to set aside a decision of the Commission only upon the following grounds: (1) that the Commission acted without or in excess of its powers; or (2) that the findings of fact do not support the

award. In Blaine v. Industrial Commission, 700 P.2d 1084, 1086 (Utah 1985), the Court stated that "the Commission's findings are not to be displaced in the absence of a showing that they are arbitrary and capricious", and went on to state that:

If there is a reasonable basis for the evidence (or lack of evidence) such that reasonable minds acting fairly thereon could remain unpersuaded, this Court does not upset the determination made.

700 P.2d at 1086, quoting Martinsen v. W-M Insurance Agency, 606 P.2d 256 (Utah 1980) (footnotes omitted) (discussing the standard for altering findings of fact).

In summary, the issue in this case is very narrow; whether the one inevitable conclusion of the evidence is that an accident occurred. If it is not, the Commission's finding must be affirmed. In this case, Plaintiff allegedly suffered her injury while performing her every-day tasks in exactly the same manner as she always performed them. She had no prior history of back trouble. Nothing unusual occurred at the time of the so-called incident, and Plaintiff was under no unusual stress. Finally, there is conflicting medical evidence as to whether Plaintiff's complaints are evidenced by any real pathology. Therefore, it is clear that the Commission's finding of no compensable industrial accident is not wholly without cause, and must be sustained under the standard of review set forth by this Court.

## II. NO CASES SUPPORT PLAINTIFF'S POSITION.

Since this Court's decisions in this area are numerous and their results turn in large part upon the facts of each individual case, it is helpful to differentiate between them according to the procedural stance with which the Court was faced. Of the cases cited in the Plaintiff's brief, only two involved an attempt, as in this case, by an applicant to reverse the Commission's denial of benefits, Carling v. Industrial Commission, 16 Utah 2d 260, 399 P.2d 202 (1965), and Schmidt v. Industrial Commission, 617 P.2d 693 (Utah 1980) ("Schmidt"). In Carling, the Court affirmed the denial of benefits on the basis that there was "a reasonable basis in the evidence to support the Commission's conclusion that the Plaintiff's loss of hearing did not result from a single incident, nor from an "accident" arising out of or in the course of his employment." 399 P.2d at 204. In Schmidt, the Court reversed the Commission's finding of no accident. A review of the case law reveals two other cases where employees succeeded in having the Commission's denial of benefits reversed, Giles v. Industrial Commission, 692 P.2d 743 (Utah 1984), and Nuzum v. Roosendahl Construction and Mining Corp., 565 P.2d 1144 (Utah 1977). However, each of those three cases is distinguishable from the present case on their facts.

In Giles, the administrative law judge's finding that there had been a compensable accident was summarily reversed without a hearing by the Industrial Commission. This Court

reversed the Commission and affirmed the administrative law judge's original finding of an accident, noting that the Plaintiff's detached retina occurred when he attempted to open his delivery truck door which was so severely jammed that a power jack was later required to open it. The Court felt that this clearly placed the event within its definition of accident as an "unanticipated, unintended occurrence different from what would normally be expected to occur in the usual course of events." 692 P.2d at 746, quoting Monfredi, 631 P.2d at 890. The Court noted that:

Giles' injury, on the other hand, did not result from a commonplace or usual incident. A badly jammed delivery truck door is neither a commonplace occurrence nor one liable to happen anywhere but work. Further, a jar to the body resulting from an attempt to open that door is not usual.

692 P.2d at 746.

In Nuzum, the Court reversed the Commission's denial of death benefits to the surviving children of a worker who died of a heart attack after repeatedly climbing the six feet in and out of the cab of his truck. The Court stressed that his multiple trips in and out of the cab were necessitated by a mechanical defect in the truck, which "put him to a greater exertion than normally would have been required if the truck had been operating properly" 565 P.2d at 1146. Unlike Giles or Nuzum, the Plaintiff in this case neither encountered any unusual situation, nor was required to use any unusual exertion in performing the task which she claims led to the injuries.

The Schmidt case is distinguishable on several grounds. In that case, the Plaintiff, who had a long history of back disorders, injured his back in the course of his duties of carrying steel which he cut to specified sizes. The case appears to be a forerunner of the "climax" rule applied in the Kaiser Steel Corporation v. Monfredi, 631 P.2d 888 (Utah 1981) (permitting recovery for injuries suffered as "climax" due to exertion, stress, or other repetitive cause). In the present case, there is no evidence that the Plaintiff had any prior history of back trouble, nor that the strain that allegedly occurred on May 3th was the result of a "climax". Secondly, Schmidt seems to be heavily influenced by the statutory requirement that all cases be submitted to a medical panel. That portion of the law of the case has since been legislatively reversed by the 1982 amendments to Utah Code Annotated § 35-1-77 (1953, as amended). It is not clear what the result in Schmidt would have been if the Court had not felt that referral of medical aspects of the case to a medical panel was mandatory under the Workmen's Compensation statute. Finally, it should be noted that Schmidt was a 3 to 2 decision, with no one joining Justice Maughan in the "main" opinion. In some ways, Schmidt appears to be an anomaly since the dissenters in it were in the majority in leading Workmen's Compensation cases both and before and after Schmidt, i.e., Farmer's Grain Cooperative v. Mason, 606 P.2d 237 (Utah 1980), and Sabo, 642 P.2d at 722.

Conversely, a number of recent cases have affirmed denials of compensation by the Commission, just as Defendants ask the Court to do in this case. See, e.g., Jones v. Ogden Auto Body, 646 P.2d 703 (Utah 1982) (substantial evidence supported finding of no accident); Moyes ex rel. Moyes v. State, 699 P.2d 748 (Utah 1985) (worker's accident was not a significant factor in causing the injury); Blaine v. Industrial Commission, 700 P.2d 1084 (Utah 1985) (Plaintiff's complaint stemmed from psychological problems and not from her industrial injury).

Finally, it is instructive to note that in all the cases relied on below to determine that there was no accident in this case, the Court reversed the Commission's award of benefits, rather than merely affirming the Commission's denial of benefits, as Defendants urge in this case. Redman Warehousing Corporation v. Industrial Commission, 22 Utah 2d 398, 454 P.2d 283 (Utah 1969) ("Redman"); Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints v. Industrial Commission and Thurman, 590 P.2d 328 (Utah 1979) ("Thurman"); Farmer's Grain Cooperative v. Mason, 606 P.2d 237 (Utah 1980) ("Mason"); Sabo's Electronic Service v. Sabo, 642 P.2d Utah 1982 ("Sabo"); and Billings Computer Corporation v. Tarango, 674 P.2d 104 (Utah 1983) ("Tarango").

### III. SABO DIRECTLY CONTROLS ON THE ISSUE OF ACCIDENT AND REQUIRES AFFIRMING THE COMMISSION'S DECISION.

In Sabo's Electric Service v. Sabo, 642 P.2d 722 (Utah 1982), this Court reversed the Industrial Commission's award of

benefits, holding that its conclusion that an accident had occurred was without any substantive support in the record. The facts in that case are strikingly similar to this one and that decision should control the outcome in this case. In Sabo, the plaintiff injured his back while attempting to lift a box of clock radios. The Court stated that

[t]hough it is clear that the applicant was engaged in his regular employment and that there was an injury, we cannot find that there was an accident in the sense contemplated by the Workmen's Compensation Statutes.

642 P.2d at 724. The Court went on to state, "[t]he mere showing of injury does not ipso facto mean that a compensable accident has occurred." id. at 725. The Court discussed the Redman, Farmer's Grain, and Thurman decisions (discussed below), and concluded that "[i]t appears to be mere coincidence that defendant's injury or malfunction occurred at work. Defendant bears the burden of showing otherwise." 642 P.2d at 726 (footnotes omitted). In both Sabo and the present case, the applicant's job required "a lot of lifting", Sabo at 723, and the activities were "not unusual and were not strenuous in any way . . . . [The applicant] was doing the same things that he frequently did in connection with his employ- ment in loading boxes which usually required bending over to pick them up. He had done the same thing many times in the past." Sabo at 723-724 (quoting the administrative law judge's findings).

The administrative law judge went on to state, in a passage which could have easily been used in the findings in this case, that:

We cite the case of L.D.S. Church v. Thurman [Utah, 590 P.2d 328 (1980)] and find here, as found in that case, that "there is nothing in his testimony that shows anything unusual about his activities, that shows any unusual exertion or strain or that shows any contact with objects or a fall. There is simply nothing different about his activities on the day in question than any other such working day." It is obvious that the back failure could have occurred at any time while engaged in any activity on or off work since our ordinary day to day activities require us to bend over, turn, twist, and lift many times and in many different ways.

642 P.2d at 724.

The record in this case makes it clear that the plaintiff was doing everyday activities in her usual way at the time she felt a sensation in her back. R. 30. Similarly, the Administrative Law Judge's Findings of Fact, which were adopted by the Industrial Commission, state:

Additionally, she (plaintiff) indicated very clearly on the record that her normal procedure in lifting the parts was to squat, lift, and straighten and then turn to place them on the conveyer belt. She testified that there was no variation from this procedure on May 3, 1985. There is nothing to take her activity on that day out of the realm of what could be considered usual and normal activities. Under applicant's description, the same type of injury could have just as easily occurred had she bent down to pick up a clothes basket or bag of groceries.

R. 90. The disposition of this case is controlled by the Court's decision in Sabo, which was made under a much stricter standard of review since there the Court reversed the Commission, and therefore Commission's Order in this case should be affirmed.



Plaintiff's Brief attempts to distinguish Sabo and other cases such as Redman, Mason, and Thurman on the ground that there was no finding of causation between the accident and the injury in those cases while there was such a showing here. This analysis not only mischaracterizes the holdings of those cases, but is inapplicable to this case in light of the lack of any finding of causation.

A. There Was No Finding of Causation In This Case.

The Administrative Law Judge's Findings of Facts, which were adopted by the Industrial Commission, list the issues presented as including (1) whether the applicant sustained injuries as a result of a compensable industrial accident on May 3, 1985, and (2) the cause or relationship of the incident to the applicant's alleged injuries. The findings then go on to state that "Inasmuch as one of the above-listed issues is dispositive of the others, the Administrative Law Judge will deal only with the issue of whether the applicant sustained injuries as a result of a compensable industrial accident." R. 88. Therefore, by its own terms, the disposition by the Administrative Law Judge and the Industrial Commission does not reach the issue of causation on which plaintiff relies to distinguish Sabo.

Moreover, there is insufficient evidence in the record to establish causation. Plaintiff relies solely on the report of Dr. Gene R. Smith, dated September 24, 1985, R. 48-50, which states that:

In answer to the question of causal relationship, it would appear medically probable in my opinion, that the lumbar disc problem in Karmen (sic) Herrera was causally related to the lifting and twisting of the 30-40 pound weights in her occupation.

This is not conclusive since in Sabo, where the plaintiff maintains there was no such causal relationship, the Court stated that:

There is nothing in the doctor's evaluation which would justify a change from the initial decision that no "accident" occurred. The mere fact that defendant's impairment resulted (in the words of Dr. Momberger) "entirely from the incident which he alleges to" should not imply that a compensable accident has occurred, as defined in this opinion.

642 P.2d at 726 (emphasis added). In that case, the doctor's evaluation seems to be much more strongly worded as to causation than in this case, but Plaintiff claims that although there was no finding of causation in Sabo, there was such a "showing" in this case.

In any event, there is additional and contradictory evidence in this case which casts doubt on both the physical basis of applicant's complaints and on their source of origin. In the letter from Dr. Chester B. Powell to Dr. Mark V. Anderson, dated August 10, 1985 (just over a month prior to Dr. Smith's letter), R. 9-11, Doctor Powell states that: "I think that there is a significant disparity between Ms. Herrera's complaints and any evidence clinically or by X-rays of any real pathology" and he

goes on to indicate that there is a "probable psychophysiologic reaction" in this case, and that "appropriate consultation would be advisable" if time suggests that the psychophysiologic factor is a large element in Ms. Herrera's discomfort. Cf., Blaine v. Industrial Commission, 700 P.2d 1084 (Utah 1985) (affirming a denial of benefits for an applicant whose "complaints stem not from the industrial injury, but from psychological problems." 700 P.2d at 1087). If Sabo is not distinguishable on causation grounds as suggested by Plaintiff, then it controls the outcome in this case and requires affirming the Commission.

B. An "Accident" in Cases Like This Requires an Unusual Event or Exertion.

The definition of accident throughout all these cases is well settled. From Carling v. Industrial Commission on, the Court has

consistently held that a finding of accident hinges on "an unanticipated, unintended occurrence different from what would normally be expected to occur in the usual course of events."

Emery Mining Corporation v. DeFrieze, 694 P.2d 606 at 608 (Utah 1984), quoting Carling, 399 P.2d at 203.

Except for the "climax" cases such as Kaiser Steel Corporation v. Monfredi, 631 P.2d at 888, recent cases which have affirmed awards of benefits stress some unusual event, or unusual exertion by the applicant. For example, in Champion Home Builders v. Industrial Commission, 703 P.2d 306 (Utah 1985), the applicant

suffered a perforated ulcer when lifting an "unusually heavy beam" -- one which was usually carried by two people. Similarly, in Emery Mining Corporation v. DeFriez, 694 P.2d at 606, the Court in a per curiam decision held that the applicant suffered a compensable accident when he injured his back while rapidly sliding out of a crawlspace and twisting to stand up to avoid being sprayed with hot oil. In Frito-Lay Inc. v. Jacobs, 689 P.2d 1335 (Utah 1985), the Court upheld benefits awarded for the applicant's back injury which occurred as he was loading Cheetos onto his truck. The Court noted that it was an unusual occurrence, because usually he hand-loaded the truck, but due to the large amount of product in this instance he was using a dolly, which directly led to the accident. Similarly, in IGA Food Fair v. Martin, 584 P.2d 828 (Utah 1978), the Court affirmed the Commission's finding that the injury had resulted from an "extraordinary exertion in the course of his work which produced an unusual and unanticipated result and thus comes within the definition of an accident." Id. at 830 (emphasis added). In Pittsburg Testing Laboratory v. Keller, 657 P.2d 1367 (Utah 1983), the Court affirmed the award of death benefits where the decedent had a heart attack following working inside an extremely hot (100 to 125°F) building.

On the other hand, the Court has continued to reverse awards of benefits if the applicant fails to meet his burden of showing the occurrence of an accident. See, Billings Computer Corporation v. Tarango, 674 P.2d 104 (Utah 1983). In that case

the applicant injured her knee when she knelt down to pick up some small items off the floor. The Court quoted extensively from Sabo, and stated:

The circumstances which precipitated her injury were in no way unusual or accidental, as that term is explained above. As noted previously, her testimony of these events is that she knelt down in the normal and usual way and that she did not fall and strike her knee on the floor, but rather placed it on the floor without abrupt contact. In light of these facts, we conclude that Mrs. Tarango did not meet her burden of showing a compensable accident and that the Industrial Commission's conclusion to that effect was "contrary to the 'one [inevitable] conclusion from the evidence.'" We therefore vacate the Commission's order and award of benefits.

674 P.2d at 107 quoting from Monfredi, 631 P.2d at 888. Similarly, in this case the plaintiff has failed to establish that the circumstances which precipitated her injury were in any way unusual or "accidental" and therefore, she did not meet her burden of showing a compensable accident.

C. The Decisions in Sabo, et al., Turn Upon the Finding of "No Accident", Rather Than a Lack of Causation.

As stated above, plaintiff attempts to distinguish Sabo by asserting that the decision there and those in Redman, Mason, and Thurman turn upon a lack of causation between the injury and the accident. A more careful reading of the cases indicates that in each of those cases the Court determined that no compensable accident occurred, just as the Commission found in this case.

While it is difficult to separate the question of the accident's existence from the question of causation, the case law clearly indicates that the analysis is a two-step process. Schmidt, 612 P.2d at 695; Sabo, 642 P.2d at 725. It is equally clear that it is the Commission's responsibility to make findings of fact such as the existence of the accident. See, e.g., U.S. Steel Corporation v. Industrial Commission, 607 P.2d 807 (Utah 1980); Emery Mining Corporation v. DeFriez, 694 P.2d 606, 608 (Utah 1984) ("A finding of accident . . . is primarily a factual question best left to the Commission."); Sabo, 642 P.2d at 725.

Rather than turning on a finding of no causation, as claimed by Plaintiff, the Court in Redman, where the applicant suffered a herniated disc while driving a truck, stated:

[t]here is nothing in this record that shows any unusual event or 'accident' if you please, justifying compensability within the nature, intent or spirit of the Workmen's Compensation Act.

454 P.2d at 285 (reversing the Commission's award of benefits).

In Thurman the Court also reversed an award of benefits. It quoted extensively from Redman and stated:

The evidence does not support the Industrial Commission's conclusion that an "accident" had arisen out of or in the course of Thurman's employment.

590 P.2d at 330. In that case, the applicant experienced pain in

his back upon standing to answer a telephone. Similarly, in Mason, the Court reversed an award of benefits, stating that "the record before us does not support the Commission's conclusion that an accident arose out of or in the course of defendant's employment," 606 P.2d at 240, where the applicant injured his back while unloading 100-pound bags from his truck. As discussed above, the Sabo Court held that "the Commission's conclusion that an accident occurred is without any substantive support in the record." 642 P.2d at 726. In that case, the applicant was merely picking up a box of clock radios in the usual way in the course of his employment.

To the extent causation is a factor in the decisions in these cases, the proposition they stand for was well stated in Kennecott Corporation v. Industrial Commission of Utah, 675 P.2d 1187, 1191 (Utah 1983):

The general rule concerning causation is that an employee cannot recover for a physiological malfunction which is not job-induced and which could have happened as easily away from work as at work.

In that case the Court affirmed the award of death benefits to an employee's widow based on the idiopathic fall doctrine, which has no application here. The Findings of Fact in this case expressly state that:

There is nothing to take her activity on that day out of the realm of what could be considered usual and normal activities . . . the same type

of injury could have just as easily occurred had she bent down to pick up a clothes basket or bag of groceries.

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